1956

# Mamie J. Tempest v. James K. Richardson and Wilma L. Richardson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A summary judgment in favor of the defendants and each of them was entered in this case on November 10, 1955 (Tr. 7). The summary judgment was granted upon a motion which was based upon the pleadings and deposition of the plaintiff (Tr. 5).

Plaintiff's complaint alleges that the plaintiff was a guest in the home of the defendants at 1754 Oakridge Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah. The plaintiff asked to be directed to the lavatory in said home and was carelessly

and negligently directed by the defendant Wilma L. Richardson toward a door which, unknown to the plaintiff, but well known to the defendants, opened not into the lavatory but onto a stairway leading to the basement of said home; that the door to which plaintiff's attention was directed was constructed and maintained in a negligent manner creating a hidden trap unknown to the plaintiff but known to the defendants (Tr. 1-2).

Defendants set forth the defense that the complaint failed to state a claim against the defendants. They further alleged that the plaintiff was a guest insofar as the dining room, living room, kitchen and bathroom of said home were concerned but was not a guest of the defendants insofar as the remaining portions of said home were concerned; that the defendants were not negligent and that if plaintiff suffered injury or damage the same was caused or proximately contributed to by the negligent acts or omissions of the plaintiff (Tr. 3).

The references to the testimony given by plaintiff on her deposition will be referred to by the page numbers of the deposition which is marked Transcript page 11.

Mrs. Tempest in her deposition testified that she had known the Richardsons for a long time and considered them good friends. There is confusion as to whether she had been in this particular house before the evening of August 12, 1954, but if so, it had only been upon one or two occasions (D. 2-4).

On August 12, 1954 Mrs. Tempest arrived at the Richardsons' home about 5 or 5:30 P.M. and went into the living room and then out onto the patio (D. 6). The floor plan of the home as described by Mrs. Tempest is as indicated in defendant's Exhibit 1 attached to the deposition (D. 7-12). About 7:00 o'clock they went into the dining room for dinner. Around 9:30 Mrs. Tempest went into the kitchen with Mrs. Richardson and after a short time in the kitchen Mrs. Tempest walked into the utility area and while walking across that area said: "I am going to the lavatory." Mrs. Richardson answered: "The light is on." (Tr. 13-14). When Mrs. Tempest reached the hall she saw that there was a door open and a light shining out into the hall, but she did not remember of any light being on in the hall itself. Mrs. Tempest walked down the hall to the lighted door or room, looked in and did not see the lavatory but saw a door right next to the den or bedroom, which door was closed (Tr. 14). She did not see any other light in the utility area and did not see the bathroom. Mrs. Tempest had walked past the bathroom when she went into the utility area but did not know it was there and saw the light shining from the room into the hallway. There was plenty of light in the hallway so that she could see her way (Tr. 15). After she had looked into the den or bedroom and did not see the lavatory she opened the door next to it with her right hand and walked forward and immediately fell. The door swung in, but there was no light on and she did not see the stairway. There is no landing inside the doorway leading to the stairway and the first step down is right

next to the hall floor so that there is a sheer straight drop down the stairs (Tr. 16-17). As she did not see the bathroom she does not know whether there was a light on or not (Tr. 20).

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE AS TO A MATERIAL FACT.

(a) DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT AND THEIR NEGLIGENCE WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF INJURY TO PLAINTIFF.

(b) PLAINTIFF WAS NOT NEGLIGENT.

### ARGUMENT

1. THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE AS TO A MATERIAL FACT.

(a) DEFENDANTS WERE NEGLIGENT AND THEIR NEGLIGENCE WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF INJURY TO PLAINTIFF.

The only question involved is whether after consideration of the pleadings and deposition of the plaintiff there is or is not a genuine issue as to a material fact. There is no dispute in this case but that plaintiff while in defendant's home was a social guest and is considered a licensee. *McHenry v. Howells, et al.*, (Ore.) 272 P. 2d 210 (1954).

Plaintiff being a licensee, the defendants owed her the duty to use reasonable care not to injure her through

any act of negligence on their part and to warn her of dangerous conditions which they knew but which they could not reasonably assume that she knew or by a reasonable use of her faculties would observe. *Deacy v. McDonnell, et al.* (Conn.) 38 Atl. 2d 181 (1944).

*Restatement of the Law of Torts*, Sec. 342, Page 932.

“DANGEROUS CONDITIONS KNOWN TO POSSESSOR. A Possessor of land is subject to liability for bodily harm caused to gratuitous licensees by a natural or artificial condition thereon if, but only if, he

(a) knows of the condition and realizes that it involves an unreasonable risk to them and has reason to believe that they will not discover the condition or realize the risk, and

(b) invites or permits them to enter or remain upon the land, without exercising reasonable care

(i) to make the condition reasonable safe, or

(ii) to warn them of the condition and the risk involved therein.”

With this premise established and which we do not believe will be questioned, we come to the question whether under the pleadings and the testimony given by plaintiff it could be said that no reasonable person could find that the defendants or either one of them were not negligent and that their negligence was not the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries.



In this case Mrs. Tempest was not familiar with the premises and after leaving the kitchen where she and Mrs. Richardson had been together Mrs. Tempest proceeded some distance across the utility room. As she was so proceeding she told Mrs. Richardson that she was going to the lavatory and Mrs. Richardson stated that the light was on. No statement or warning was given to Mrs. Tempest regarding the cellar stairway.

The evidence does not disclose whether Mrs. Richardson knew that Mrs. Tempest had already passed the lavatory, if in fact she had, nor does the evidence disclose that Mrs. Richardson was aware that the light was on in the den or bedroom, that being the room right next to the door to the cellar steps.

We can, however, assume that Mrs. Richardson was familiar with her own home and knew that if one had proceeded across the utility room to the hall that they would not observe the bathroom which was recessed off the utility room. If she knew the light was on in the bedroom or den then she knew or should have known that a person reaching the hallway would be attracted thereto and finding that it was not the bathroom might try the door adjacent thereto which opened onto a stairway leading to the basement. Mrs. Richardson did know that the door to the stairs opened inward and that the step dropped immediately down, there being no platform flush with the hall floor and that one taking a step forward through the door would immediately descend downward.

Under such circumstances can it be said that no reasonable person would not come to the conclusion that Mrs. Richardson was negligent in not warning Mrs. Tempest of the stairway? If, in fact, Mrs. Richardson knew how far Mrs. Tempest had passed across the utility area would not this have a bearing on the situation? If so, we have a material fact which must be determined. The same conclusion would be true concerning the question as to whether or not Mrs. Richardson knew that the light was on in the bedroom and that the door was open so that Mrs. Tempest might be attracted thereto.

In the case of *Wardhaugh v. Weisfield's, Inc.* (Wash.) 264 P. 2d 870 (Dec. 1953) the defendant had constructed a ramp in its store in such a manner that it looked as though it were level. The Court held that such deceptive condition may be considered as negligence.

In this case if plaintiff had attempted to go to the lavatory without instructions and had received injuries the question would be entirely different. However, plaintiff was instructed that the light was on. She proceeded to the lighted room as instructed which turned out to be a den or bedroom rather than a bathroom and she had no warning that the door next thereto guarded a dangerous stairway leading to the basement.

In the case of *Hamblet v. Buffalo Library Garage Co., Inc.*, 225 N. Y. Supp. 716, a person on the premises was instructed how to reach the lavatory and the Court

held that plaintiff had the right, to a certain extent, to rely upon instructions and to govern his conduct accordingly.

In the case of *Deacy v. McDonnell, et al.*, supra, where the plaintiff went to visit her sister who was a servant in the home of the defendants and it became time for plaintiff to leave, the servants of the defendant failed to turn on the light so that plaintiff might discover the step down to the porch and by reason thereof she fell. The Court held:

“It was for the trial court to determine as a question of fact whether the situation was or was not one in which the servants could not reasonably assume that the plaintiff knew or by the reasonable use of her senses would discover the step down to the porch and which, therefore, fell within the principle under which an owner is bound to take precautions to protect a licensee of whose presence he knows against a dangerous condition upon the premises. It could reasonably reach the conclusions that it was the servants’ duty either to turn on the lights or warn her of the danger created by the step and that, for their breach of that duty, the defendants are responsible. These conclusions are sufficient to sustain the ruling that there was a breach of the duty which the defendants owed the plaintiff.”

In addition to the facts testified to in plaintiff’s deposition, it appears to us that there are material facts that would have to be determined before the Court could say that there was no negligence on behalf of the defend-

ants or either one of them. A very material fact would be whether or not Mrs. Richardson knew at the time she advised Mrs. Tempest that the light was on that Mrs. Tempest had already passed the entrance to the bathroom and was in the hallway. Another fact would be whether or not Mrs. Richardson knew that the light was on in the den or bedroom. These two facts are very important for the reason that if Mrs. Richardson answered both of these questions in the affirmative she knew or should have known that Mrs. Tempest would then have been misguided and led to the bedroom rather than the bathroom. We also know that Mrs. Richardson was aware or should have been aware of the type of stairway just adjacent to the door to the den or bedroom. She knew that the door opened inwardly. Under such circumstances she had a duty to warn Mrs. Tempest of the stairway or to direct Mrs. Tempest's attention to the fact that she had passed the bathroom.

The case of *Young et al. v. Felornia et al.*, ..... Utah ....., 244 P. 2d 862 (1952) involved a dispute of grazing rights in the State of Utah. An appeal was taken by the defendants from a summary judgment. The motion of summary judgment was based upon the pleadings and a stipulation and the issues established by the court in its pretrial order. The Court held after quoting Rule 56 (c) U.R.C.P. as follows:

“Under this rule, it is clear that if there is any genuine issue as to any material fact, the motion should be denied.”

## (b) PLAINTIFF WAS NOT NEGLIGENT.

Is an individual negligent who opens a door which opens away from him and takes a step forward at the same time even though the room or space that he steps forward into is dark? Does not one have the right to assume that where a door opens inwardly that there will be a floor beyond, not just a vacant space and if there is a stairway on the other side of the door there will be a first step or platform which will be level with the floor?

In the present case the facts would not warrant the finding of negligence or contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff.

Plaintiff had been directed to the bathroom. She was advised that the light was on. When plaintiff discovered that the room was not a bathroom, was she not justified in trying the door next to it? Would not a reasonable and prudent person open a door and take a step forward in order to turn on the light? Certainly we would not say that a reasonable and prudent person under such circumstances would push the door wide open and stand back rather than take a hold of the door and move forward as the door opened, nor would an ordinarily reasonable person anticipate and expect that if he should take a step forward in the darkness that he would be immediately precipitated down a flight of stairs.

The case of *Ray v. Consolidated Freightways*, ..... Utah ....., 289 P. 2d 196 (1955) was a case involving the

destruction of a truck and trailer claimed to have been caused by another truck and trailer approaching on the highway. The Court states:

“Therefore, if there is any reasonable basis, either because of the lack of evidence, or from the evidence and the fair inferences to be derived therefrom, taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, upon which any reasonable mind could conclude that it was not convinced by a preponderance of the evidence either (a) that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence or (b) that such negligence proximately contributed to cause the injury, then the refusal of the trial court to find plaintiff contributorily negligent must be sustained.”

From this expression this Court has indicated that if reasonable minds could differ as to whether or not the acts heretofore referred to constitute contributory negligence, then the matter would be a question for a jury to determine and certainly would not permit the entry of a judgment of dismissal or summary judgment.

In the case of *Rogalski v. Phillips Petroleum Co.*, 3 Utah 2d 203, 282 P. 2d 304, the plaintiff while steam cleaning his employer's truck fell into a vat containing caustic soda. The Court in discussing the question of contributory negligence held as follows:

“It has been frequently announced by this court that contributory negligence is a question for the jury unless all reasonable men must draw the same conclusion from the facts as they are shown. *Shafer v. Keeley Ice Cream Co.*, 65 Utah

46, 234 P. 300, 38 A.L.R. 1523; *Lowe v. Salt Lake City*, 13 Utah 91, 44 P. 1050, 57 Am. St. Rep. 708; *Baker v. Decker*, 117 Utah 15, 212 P. 2d 679. As was said in *Linden v. Anchor Min. Co.*, 20 Utah 134, 58 P. 355, 358:

“Where there is uncertainty as to the existence of either negligence or contributory negligence, the question is not one of law, but of fact, and to be settled by a jury; and this, whether the uncertainty arises from a conflict in the testimony, or because, the facts being undisputed, fair-minded men will honestly draw different conclusions from them.’”

The case of *Nielson v. Mauchley*, 115 Utah 68, 202 P. 2d 547 (1949) involved an intersection accident. The Court states:

“Each case must turn upon its own facts. Contributory negligence as a matter of law, can only be found where reasonable minds cannot but conclude that a reasonable careful and prudent person situated as was plaintiff would not have acted as he did. The situations where a court will so declare are rare. \* \* \*”

In the case of *Knight v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 52 Utah 42, 172 P. 689 (1918) brought for the recovery of the negligent killing of certain horses the defendant set up the defense of contributory negligence and the Court held in discussing contributory negligence as follows:

“While it is true, and this court has so held in cases too numerous to cite here, that the question of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, like that of original negligence on the

part of the defendant, is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury, and can only in rare instances be disposed of as a question of law, yet it is also true that this court, in common with other courts, has also very frequently held that, where the evidence is undisputed and is not conflicting, and is such that reasonable men may not deduce conflicting inferences therefrom or arrive at different conclusions, then the question of necessity is purely one of law to be determined by the court."

The Washington Supreme Court in the case of *Wardhaugh v. Weisfield's, Inc.*, supra, states:

"The issue of contributory negligence should not be taken from the jury unless the acts done were so palpably negligent as to preclude the possibility of a difference of opinion. *McBeath v. Northern Pac. R. Co.*, 32 Wash. 2d 910, 204 P. 2d 248."

"Nor is contributory negligence chargeable to one who was deceived by appearances calculated to deceive an ordinarily prudent person. *Brandenburg v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co.*, 28 Cal. 2d 282, 169 P. 2d 909; *Bradley v. Allis Hotel Co.*, 153 Kan. 166, 109 P. 2d 165; *Rue v. Wendland*, 226 Minn. 449, 33 N.W. 2d 593; *Manley v. Haus*, 113 Vt. 217, 32 A. 2d 668."

38 *Am. Jur.*, Section 184, Page 861.

"As it generally is expressed, a plaintiff will not be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence if it appears that he had no knowledge or means of knowledge of the danger, and conversely, he will be deemed to have been guilty if



it is shown that he knew or reasonably should have known of the peril and might have avoided it by the exercise of ordinary care.”

This statement is cited with approval in the case of *Martin v. Jones*, ..... Utah ....., 253 P. 349 and in the case of *Knox v. Snow*, ..... Utah ....., 229 P. 2d 874.

In conclusion, we respectfully submit that there are material questions of fact to be determined before it can be stated that Mr. or Mrs. Richardson were not negligent, and from the evidence introduced it cannot be said, as a matter of law, that the plaintiff was negligent, and the court erred in entering its summary judgment.

Respectfully submitted,

GUSTIN, RICHARDS & MATTSSON  
*Attorneys for Appellant*