1956

Mamie J. Tempest v. James K. Richardson and Wilma L. Richardson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

1. THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO A MATERIAL FACT.

(a) PLAINTIFF WAS A SOCIAL GUEST ENTITLED ONLY TO THE PROTECTION OWED TO A GRATUITOUS LICENSEE, AND AS TO PLAINTIFF THE DEFENDANTS COMMITTED NO AFFIRMATIVE ACT OF NEGLIGENCE AND VIOLATED NO DUTY OWING TO THE PLAINTIFF.

Plaintiff concedes in her brief that, as to the defendants' she occupied the status of a social guest. As such, plaintiff was a gratuitous, or, as is sometimes called, a bare licensee.

McHenry v. Howells, (Ore.) 272 P. 2d 210
 Taneian v. Meghrigian, N.J.) 99 Atl. 2d 207
 Keretian v. Asadourian, (Ill.) 110 N.E. 2d 679
 Lubenow v. Cook, (Conn.) 79 Atl. 2d 826

McNamara v. Hall, (Wash.) 233 P. 2d 852
 O'Brien v. Shea, (Mass.) 96 N.E. 2d 163
 Biggs v. Bear, (Ill.) 51 N.E. 2d 799
 Laube v. Stevenson, (Conn.) 78 Atl. 2d 693

It is most important to bear the status of the plaintiff constantly in mind because the authorities, so far as we have been able to determine, are unanimous in holding that the only duty which a host owes to a social guest is to refrain from *affirmative* acts likely to cause injury and to warn the guest of hidden or concealed dangers which the guest by the exercise of ordinary care cannot or may not see and avoid.

Taneian v. Meghrigian, *supra*
 Niebes v. Order of Eagles, (Ohio) 114 N.E. 2d 260
 Keretian v. Asadourian, *supra*
 Scheibel v. Lipton, (Ohio) 102 N.E. 2d 453
 Bogateroff v. Coplan, New York Supp., 108
 N.Y.S. 2d 205
 Lubenow v. Cook, *supra*
 O'Brien v. Shea, *supra*
 McHenry v. Howells, *supra*

Furthermore, a host is not liable to a guest for ordinary acts of negligence.

Niebes v. Order of Eagles, *supra*
 Biggs v. Bear, *supra*

The rule is likewise well established that a social guest takes the premises of his host as he finds them and the host is only obligated to provide the guest with the same protection which he takes for himself and members of his own family, and no more.

Taneian v. Meghrigian, *supra*
 Vogel v. Eckert, (N.J.) 91 Atl. 2d 633
 McHenry v. Howells, *supra*
 Biggs v. Bear, *supra*

The law is also well established that a host is not the insurer of the safety of a social guest and is under no duty to reconstruct his premises for the safety of a guest.

Scheibel v. Lipton, *supra*
 McHenry v. Howells, *supra*

In two very respectable jurisdictions in this country it has been held that there must be evidence of willful and wanton injury before a host can be held liable to a social guest for injuries sustained on the premises of the host.

Keretian v. Asadourian, *supra*
 Gregory v. Loder, (N.J.) 185 Atl. 360

If the foregoing are the rules by which the conduct of the defendants is to be measured, and we submit that they are, then every issue of fact which must be decided is disclosed by the record now before this court and does not require the taking of any evidence to amplify that which is already made plain.

Plaintiff cites many cases in her brief in support of the proposition that summary judgment is improper if, upon the record, any material issue remains to be decided which if decided for the plaintiff would sustain a judgment in her favor. The defendants have no quarrel with the rule contended for but deny that the rule and the cases cited in support of it have any application to

this case. We will point out hereafter why no material issue of fact exists which could or might change the result of the trial court's ruling.

We cannot pass the contentions of the plaintiff without referring to the reasons which make summary judgment a desirable procedural remedy in applicable cases. The rule is designed to save the time and expense of parties, their counsel, witnesses, jurors and the courts when the record in a case discloses that it may be decided equitably and fairly to all concerned without the necessity for a trial. That this saving of time and expense is desirable needs no supporting argument. This court has recognized the desirability of the rule by adopting it as part of the rules of civil procedure applicable to all civil cases in this jurisdiction. Mr. Justice Crockett in his concurring opinion in the very recently decided case of *Holland v. Columbia Iron Mining Co.*, (*Utah*) 293 P. 2d 700, says this:

"It is true, indeed, that a summary judgment is a drastic remedy which the courts are, and should be reluctant to use. Yet it does have a salutary purpose in the administration of justice in not requiring the time, trouble and expense of trial, when the best showing the plaintiff can possibly claim would not entitle him to a judgment.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff does not mean that the court should pick out all of the aspects thereof favorable to supporting plaintiff's claim and ignore those that indicate to the contrary. It means that the court surveys the whole picture, takes into consideration facts and inferences therefrom tending to favor the plaintiff's position, and also considers

other facts appearing which must be accepted as a matter of law, and weighs the whole matter against the background of legal precepts bearing on the problem. If when so viewed, reasonable minds could make findings that would make out a cause of action in accordance with the plaintiff's claims, summary judgment should not be granted; on the other hand, if it appears to the court that reasonable minds could not make findings which would establish a cause of action for the plaintiff, then the summary judgment is proper."

Based upon the proposition that when the whole picture presented by the record in this case is considered, reasonable minds could not make findings which would sustain a judgment for the plaintiff, the order of the trial court granting summary judgment should be affirmed.

There is no contention that the defendants did any affirmative act which caused plaintiff's injury. Since the authorities, which we have cited above, hold that a guest must accept the premises of his host as he finds them and the host is under no duty to rebuild or reconstruct his premises to make them safer for his guest than they are for himself and the members of his own family, no recovery may be predicated in this case upon the claim that the premises were negligently constructed or maintained.

The brief of the plaintiff discloses two propositions which are relied upon to support the claim that the summary judgment entered by the trial court was erroneous. They are: (a) That no warning was given by Mrs. Richardson that the particular door which plaintiff opened gave access to the cellar, and (b) that the manner in

which the stairway was constructed was defective and, therefore, as to the plaintiff, was negligent maintenance.

We have cited the cases above which fully sustain the defendants' position that it does not lie in the mouth of the plaintiff to criticize the construction of the house to which she had been invited for purely social purposes, therefore, we will make no further reference to that particular point in the plaintiff's brief.

The gist of plaintiff's argument regarding a lack of any warning is substantially as follows:

The plaintiff was unfamiliar with defendants' home and the location of the cellar stairs; that she entered the general area where the stairway was located, which fact was known to Mrs. Richardson, and the latter, being familiar with the claimed negligent way in which the stairway had been constructed with the door opening inwardly over a stairway with no top landing, was charged with the duty of warning the plaintiff to avoid opening this door.

This argument ignores entirely the fact that the lavatory to which plaintiff intended going was not anywhere near the cellar door. (See defendants' Exhibit 1 attached to plaintiff's deposition.) Plaintiff walked past the area where the lavatory was located and into an area where Mrs. Richardson could not reasonably be expected to assume the plaintiff would go. On the other hand Mrs. Richardson was entirely justified in assuming that the plaintiff would confine her wanderings to her announced destination. Furthermore, it is to be borne in mind that plaintiff was directed specifically to a lighted room, not to one which was in complete darkness. If any assumptions

are to be allowed in this case we submit that Mrs. Richardson had a right to assume that when she warned plaintiff that the light to the lavatory was on, plaintiff would not do as she did and open the cellar door and step into an unlighted area when she was totally unable to see into what dangers her path was leading her. An attempt is made to excuse the conduct of the plaintiff by contending that she followed the given directions and went to a lighted room which she discovered, upon entering, was not a lavatory but a den or a bedroom. Hence, it is argued, having gone into a room which was lighted she was then free to enter any room or area in the premises, lighted or unlighted, as she saw fit and if, in consequence, she fell down a stairway she could not see, the host must be held liable for her injuries. To us, the logic of this reasoning, to say the least, is obscure. Was plaintiff entitled to assume that because the bedroom was lighted, the lavatory was unlighted? Or was she justified in remaining silent and not advising Mrs. Richardson that she was lost or confused and in not asking her for further directions? We submit that she had been adequately advised as to what she would find when she got to the lavatory, namely, that it was lighted, and she should, as a reasonable person, have looked further for another lighted room or else she should have asked her hostess for further directions. We will discuss further under another section of this brief the conduct of the plaintiff in opening the cellar door and stepping forward into complete darkness.

The complete answer to plaintiff's argument that the defendants' house constituted a trap and that defendants were under a duty to warn plaintiff to avoid such trap will be found in the announced decisions to which refer-

ence is now made. Uniformly and, so far as we have been able to determine, unanimously, the courts, in considering situations such as the one disclosed by this record, have held that there can be no recovery for one in the position of the plaintiff. They also hold that a stairway such as the one here involved is not a trap and that failure of a host to warn a guest in the circumstances here presented is not negligence. For instance, in the case cited in appellant's brief, *McHenry v. Howells, supra*, the following factual situation is disclosed. Plaintiff, a social guest, fell in attempting to descend a stairway. She contended that the stairway was defectively constructed and constituted a trap of which defendants should have given warning. The case quotes fully the rules applicable to social guests, and regarding the matter of hidden defects and traps says:

"The evidence is directed solely to an alleged structural defect in the stairway and to the failure of defendants to warn plaintiff thereof. It is manifest that the alleged defect did not constitute a trap or hidden peril within the meaning of the law. The condition of the stairway was open and obvious; it could readily be observed by a person exercising ordinary care for his own safety. Defendants were under no obligation to reconstruct the stairway for the protection of the plaintiff. Plaintiff took the premises as she found them."

A non-suit granted on the defendants' motion was affirmed by the Supreme Court of Oregon. In the case of *Biggs v. Bear, supra*, the Supreme Court of Illinois said the following:

"Under the issues plaintiff was required to

prove that defendants violated a duty to warn her, their guest, of a dangerous arrangement of doors in their kitchen; and that while exercising due care and as a result of defendants' failure to warn her, and their further negligence in failing to light and guard, and provide a landing between the door and the steps of the rear stairway, she fell down the stairs and was injured."

In *Biggs v. Bear, supra*, as in the case under consideration, the plaintiff, a social guest, fell down some stairs when she opened a door after inquiring as to the location of a washroom. She opened a door away from her and stepped and looked simultaneously into a dark area. There was no light and there was no landing. There were three or four doors which looked alike. Plaintiff, being unfamiliar with the premises, did not know the plan or location of the stairs and no warning was given her. The Supreme Court of Illinois on these facts held that the plaintiff was a social guest, that she took the premises as she found them. The court further stated that a social guest becomes a member of the family of the host and cannot stand upon the duty owed to a business invitee and further held that a social guest cannot recover against a host for ordinary negligence. In deciding the case the court further stated:

"If a licensee (the plaintiff), the court properly directed the verdict, since there was no evidence of willful and wanton misconduct."

In deciding this case the Supreme Court of Illinois found that the situation presented by the facts did not constitute a trap. The situation revealed in that case is so

strikingly similar to the case under consideration as to be most startling. We submit that the case is controlling upon the right of the plaintiff to recover in this action.

The case of *Keretian v. Asadourian, supra*, involves facts of a similar nature where a guest fell down a stairway after being informed by her host that the bathroom was located in a hallway and who, in looking for the bathroom at the end of said hallway, opened a doorway leading downstairs and fell and was injured. It was likewise stated in that case that because there was evidence insufficient to establish that the host's failure to give the guest further directions and assistance was willful and wanton and in the absence of evidence of a conscious indifference to the consequences on the part of the host in failing to assist the guest, there could be no recovery.

Taneian v. Meghrigian, supra, was also a stairway case involving slightly different circumstances but in which a claim was made that the stairway used by the social guest had been defectively constructed. The court held that there could be no recovery and stated:

"One who comes on premises by express invitation to enjoy hospitality as a guest of the owner * * * has only the right of a licensee and must take the property as he finds it."

And stated further:

"Where one visits the private home of another as a social guest the owner is bound to take the same care of him that he takes of himself, and the other members of his family, and no more."

Another very interesting case on the question of whether a stairway constitutes a trap and one which involved, not as here a social guest, but a business invitee is *Hertz v. Advertiser Company* (Ala.) 78 S. 794. It must be borne in mind in considering this case that the rule as to business invitees and the duty imposed upon the owner of premises is much broader and much stricter than is the case where a purely social guest is involved.

It the *Hertz* case, *supra*, the plaintiff opened a door from a vestibule which led immediately to a stairway which was not protected by any landing. The stairway was unlighted and in proceeding the plaintiff fell and was injured. The door opened inwardly over the stairway. It will be observed that the door opened in exactly the same manner as is alleged in plaintiff's complaint in this case. It was held by the Alabama court that the plaintiff could not recover. The court specifically held that the stairway, as constructed, was not a trap and further held that plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence for proceeding without first ascertaining that it was safe for her to do so. On the question of whether the stairway constituted a trap, the court said:

"This rule * * * does not apply to places strictly private, nor to places to which the public are not entitled or expected * * * to go."

And stated further:

"We agree * * * that the evidence fails to show that the defendant was guilty of * * * negligence in constructing a 'trap' or 'pitfall' on its premises, within the meaning of the * * * rule of law."

We will have further reference to make to this case when we discuss in another section of our brief the subject of contributory negligence.

The Alabama court cites from *Brugher v. Buchtenkirch*, (N.Y.) 60 N.E. 420, that a person must expect to find stairs in the hallways of buildings which case stated:

"* * * we know of no reason or custom which justifies one entering a strange house in assuming that the hall will continue at the same level."

The Alabama court quoted with approval a Massachusetts case, the name of which is not indicated as follows:

"We cannot think such a construction is of itself defective or negligent."

An interesting case on the subject of what constitutes a trap is *Alabama Great Southern v. Campbell*, (Ala.) 26 So. 2d 124. This case involved a railroad crossing into private land which was reached over a narrow road which crossed the defendant's tracks. The plaintiff's son driving the plaintiff's automobile over the crossing caught the wheels on the rails which prevented the driver from getting the car off the track. It was struck by a passing train and was damaged. It was claimed that the crossing was a trap. It was held there could be no recovery. After holding that the driver was a trespasser or a bare licensee, the court said:

"A trap has been defined as 'a danger which a person who does not know the premises could not avoid by reasonable care or skill.' 'Traps

must be intentionally set for the licensee.'

'Certainly the crossing involved in this case could in nowise be regarded as a trap.' "

Furthermore, the plaintiff in opening the door to the cellar and stepping inside entered into a portion of defendants' premises to which she had asked no permission to enter and to which no invitation had been extended.

The law is clear that when a social guest enters a portion of the host's premises to which no invitation has been extended, the guest cannot recover for injuries received on the portion of the premises thus entered. In such a situation there is not even a duty to warn even though a trap may exist in fact. *Laube v. Stevenson, supra, Lubenow v. Cook, supra, Hertz v. Advertiser Company, supra.*

It is plain from the record that the plaintiff was not asked or invited to visit the defendants' cellar. In opening the cellar door and entering she exceeded the limits of her right to use the defendants' premises and any untoward event occurring to her was a risk which she assumed herself. It is no answer for plaintiff to contend that she was unaware of the dangers into which her journey was leading her or that she should have been warned. As we have already pointed out, neither of the defendants knew what plaintiff was about to do.

Failure to warn even under such circumstances would not excuse the want of ordinary care on the part of the plaintiff. James K. Richardson was completely unaware of what was taking place and all that Mrs. Richardson knew was that plaintiff said she was going to the lavatory.

A duty to warn only exists when the host knows that the guest is exposed to dangers which he knows are con-

cealed from the guest or which the guest is unlikely to discover for himself and against which he should not be expected to protect himself.

Reference has already been made to the cases holding that stairways are not traps even when constructed as the one here involved was constructed. These cases likewise hold that stairways are not traps even though unlighted and even though they are constructed without landings. Social and even business guests are supposed to know that there is at least a possibility that when one opens a door on unfamiliar premises he may immediately encounter a stairway and that if he opens such a door and encounters darkness he should either be extremely cautious or not venture forward at all or until he can see where he is going.

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